74739-8

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### **DIVISION I**

NO. 89806-5

RON APPLEGATE, Plaintiff / Appellant,

٧.

LUCKY BAIL BONDS, Inc., Defendant / Respondent,

AND

GREG D. PETERSON, Defendant / Respondent,

AND

CESAR LUNA, Defendant / Respondent,

AND

RILEY WIRTS, Defendant / Respondent,

**AND** 

JOHN WIRTS, Defendant / Respondent,

AND

QUEST RECOVERY, Defendant / Respondent.

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

## **RON APPLEGATE**

Robert D. Butler, WSBA #22475 Emily C. Beschen, WSBA #43813 Attorneys for Appellant

Law Offices of ROBERT D. BUTLER 103 E. Holly St. #512 Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 734-3448

# **

### I. INTRODUCTION

The use of surety bonds as a pre-trial release mechanism is an important component of Washington's criminal justice system. It is one of the forms of pre-trial release that courts can use to ensure that Defendants will appear for court when they are required to do so. Under a surety bond the Defendant is "bailed out" of court custody. The bondee enters an agreement with the bail bond company that they will appear in court, in exchange for their release from the court's custody. Usually an indemnitor (often a friend or family member) enters into a contract with a bail bond company and financially pledges that the bondee will return to court, meeting the conditions of the bond. The indemnitor generally pays 10% of the bond amount, set by the court, to the bail bond company as a fee, and promises to pay the bail bond company the full amount of the bond in the event that the bondee fails to meet the bond requirements by missing a court date. For example, if a court sets a bond amount at \$1,000, then the indemnitor will pay the bail bond company a 10% premium of \$100, while promising the remaining \$900 in the event that the bondee misses a required court appearance.

Before a Defendant is released on bond, the bonding company writes a bond insuring the court that the Defendant will appear in court as required. If the bondee fails to appear, the prosecutor files an order forfeiting bond asking for a judgement to be filed against the bonding company. The judge issues a warrant for the arrest of the Defendant that allows law enforcement officers to place the Defendant under arrest. The bonding company is on the hook to surrender the bondee back to the custody of the court at some point over the next 12 months, or pay the bond amount to the court.

Some bonding companies hire bounty hunters (also known as bail recovery agents) to assist in locating, apprehending and surrendering a bondee, who has missed court, back into law enforcement custody. The licensing requirements of bounty hunters are regulated in Washington State by the Department of Licensing (DOL). The use of bounty hunters is ancient. Since bounty hunters are not state actors, they do not need to follow the same Constitutional requirements, such as reading Defendants their Miranda rights, or obeying the 4th amendment's search and seizure requirements, and they do not have the same privileges and immunities afforded to state actors acting in their official capacity.

Bounty hunters are required to follow the same laws, and subject to the same liabilities for injuries and damages as other citizens while they perform their efforts in apprehending a fugitive. This case is about a group of bounty hunters who were the subjects of a civil lawsuit for trespass, assault and battery that they committed at the home of a bondee's father, Ron Applegate. These bounty hunters need to be held accountable for their action and the damage and injuries that they caused.

## II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

<u>Issue:</u> May a group of bounty hunters forcibly enter a private third party dwelling, without consent, in order to search for a bondee who has missed court?

Assignment of Error 1: Trial Court Instruction #39 misstates the law in Washington by instructing jurors that a bounty hunter is permitted to enter the private property of a third party in order to apprehend a fugitive / bondee who has missed a court appearance.

Assignment of Error 2: Trial Court Instruction #41 misstates the law by instructing that a bounty hunter may use force to enter a private dwelling, where the dwelling at issue is not the home of the fugitive / bondee whom they seek to apprehend.

Assignment of Error 3: Trial Court Instruction #17 misstates the law in Washington by instructing that, in a claim for trespass, it is the burden of the Plaintiff to disprove that the Defendant was privileged to be on their land, and it is the burden of the Plaintiff to disprove that the Defendant had a reasonable belief that they had a privilege to be on the land.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Factual Background

1. Dorothy signs an Indemnity Agreement to bail out her daughter, Elizabeth, with Lucky Bail Bonds

In 2011, Elizabeth Applegate is arrested for shoplifting and misdemeanor assault. CP 19. Lucky Bail Bonds, Inc. (Hereinafter "Lucky") posts a bail bond to allow Elizabeth's release while the misdemeanor case is pending. Ex 7. Before Lucky posts that bond, Elizabeth Applegate's mother, Dorothy Applegate, fills out an "Indemnitor Application" and signs a "Bail Bond Indemnity Agreement" with Lucky. Ex. 9, 8.

In the Indemnity Agreement, Dorothy Applegate is a "cosignor" promising that in the event Elizabeth misses court, Dorothy will owe Lucky the full amount of the bond, \$4,000, plus any expenses associated with returning Elizabeth to jail. Ex. 8. The Indemnity Agreement contains no terms that state Lucky has the right to enter Dorothy Applegate's property. Ex. 8. The Indemnity Agreement does not list an address for Dorothy Applegate's home. Ex. 8. Elizabeth never signs the Indemnity Agreement. Ex. 8.

The indemnitor application lists an address for Elizabeth and an address for Dorothy. Ex. 9. This application shows that Elizabeth does not reside with her parents. Ex. 9. Nowhere in the application does it discuss Dorothy giving up her rights to the quite enjoyment of her property. Ex. 9.

2. When Elizabeth misses court, Lucky hires bounty hunters to locate and surrender her back to the custody of the court

On September 23, 2011 Elizabeth misses a court date. Ex.

7. In response to Elizabeth's missed court date, Lucky's Bail Bonds Agent, Greg Peterson, contracts with three bounty hunters for services to locate, apprehend, and surrender Elizabeth back into the custody of law enforcement. Ex. 7. The three bounty hunters hired to perform this service were Cesar Luna, John Wirts, and Greg Peterson. Ex. 7. Each bounty hunter signs a "Bail Bond Recovery Contract" on October 11, 2011. This recovery contract lists Elizabeth's last known address as 1213 Bradley Road in Lynden Washington. Ex. 7.

# 3. Bounty hunters attempt to locate Elizabeth by calling and posting a photo on Facebook

Bounty hunters attempt to locate Elizabeth by calling her mother Dorothy Applegate. CP 229. Dorothy Applegate informs the bounty hunter she does not know where Elizabeth is. CP 229.

On October 11, 2011 someone posts Elizabeth's photo on Facebook, through a page titled "Bail Recovery Agent of Washington Luna," asking those with any information to call. The following exchange takes place October 17, 2011:

Danielle Redmon: That is the C-U-N-T that slashed keyed and egged my truck in hs! Ha I'd love to be there when she's caught!

Bail Recovery Agent of Washington Luna: We already caught this guy, are you talking about the girl?

Danielle Redmon: Yes elizabeth

Bail Recovery Agent of Washington Luna: Ahhhh yea we will find her!

Danielle Redmon: You should call me when you do. I haven't got to enjoy the sound of my fist hitting someones skill lately :)

Bail Recovery Agent of Washington Luna: Lmao, how is someone so pretty and little have sooooo much anger? To funny, but i can hit you up if it goes down but you must keep your hands to yourself lol but you can talk all the shit you want

Danielle Redmon: What about spitting? That's technically keeping my hands to myself:)

Bail Recovery Agent of Washington Luna: Lol

(sic). Ex. 14. That same day, Cesar Luna claims to have received a tip that Elizabeth Applegate was staying at her parents' property, but he will not disclose his source. CP 229.

# 4. Bounty hunters go to Ron & Dorothy's home to search for Elizabeth

Late into the night of October 17, 2011, the three bounty hunters, along with one bounty hunter's adult son Riley Wirts, meet at the intersection of Loomis and Sunrise to conduct surveillance at the home of Elizabeth's parents. CP 234-235. Elizabeth's father and mother, Ron and Dorothy Applegate's home is located at 2477 Loomis Trail Road. Ex. 9. Also residing at that address is Ron's mother Patricia (as well as two young grandchildren Ron and Dorothy were in the process of adopting and taking from Elizabeth). Ex. 9. Elizabeth does not reside at this residence. Ex. 7, 9.

Luna dresses in jeans, a sweatshirt and bulletproof vest that has the words agent printed on it, along with a visible gun on his hip. CP 237-238. Luna and Peterson entered the property to check out trailers located behind the house, as Wirts approaches the front door of Ron and Dorothy Applegate's home. CP 20, 234-235.

# 5. Force is used to enter Ron Applegate's private dwelling

Ron Applegate comes outside onto the small front porch of his home as the bounty hunters walk to the rear of his house. CP 235. Ron yells at the men asking what they are doing. CP 235. Ron demands they leave his property. CP 20. One bounty hunter says they have a warrant. Ex. 15, 48, CP 243. Wirts continues to approach towards the front door of the home and, as Ron yells for him to get off the property, Ron puts up his foot and kicks him. CP 20, RP 102. Wirts charges at Ron, and Luna assists taking Ron to the ground. CP2 36. During this altercation a hole is made in the wall of Ron's home and the doorbell is broken off from his home. RP 27. Ron tries to retreat inside his house, so Wirts and Luna place Ron into a headlock, gaining control of him inside of his home. CP 236, 240. Riley Wirts watches his father John Wirts and Luna enter the home. CP 159-160. Luna recalls that Ron Applegate was trying to run inside of his house, and the bounty hunters gained control of him inside of the residence. CP 240. Luna pinned him against the door while bent down on one knee. CP 240. The men then identify themselves as bounty hunters explaining they were there to take Elizabeth. CP 245. Elizabeth (who was visiting her children) comes out and complies with the bounty hunters requests.

CP 236, 245. The next day Luna posts on Facebook about last night saying it was near an "all out BRAWL, just how we like it." Ex. 13.

The bounty hunters believe that, because Dorothy Applegate co-signs on an indemnitor agreement to bail her adult daughter out of jail, they have every right to enter onto the property and into her home. CP 234 (Cesar Luna states: "...the address of Dorothy who is the cosigner on the bond, and that address gives us every right and that contract gives us every right to search that home."); See also Ex. 15 (Greg Peterson states: "We don't need a warrant to come into that house." "The mom is a cosigner and this is her home.").

## **B.** Causes of Action Filed Against Bounty Hunters

Ron Applegate brought causes of action against each of the bounty hunters, Lucky Bail Bonds, and Riley Wirts for battery, false imprisonment, assault, trespass, as well as other torts stemming from the October 17, 2011 incident and Mr. Applegate's home. CP 4-9. At trial, Plaintiff's counsel introduced medical records of Ron Applegate and testimony from Ron Applegate's doctor regarding the broken ribs that he sustained. CP 131. Defendants asserted that they were privileged to enter Mr. Applegate's property, and

privileged to use force by virtue of their bounty hunter status. CP 87, 11, 113.

# C. Court's Jury Instructions

# 1. Trial court jury instruction #17 (trespass)

With regards to the trespass claim, the court instructed the jury that Plaintiff must prove that Defendant did not have a privilege to be on the property, and instructed that the Plaintiff must prove the Defendant knew he did not have a privilege to be on Plaintiff's property:

Plaintiff claims that Defendants . . . each trespassed on his property. To establish this claim . . . Plaintiff must prove the following:

[. . .]

- 3) [. . .] Defendant did not have a privilege to be on Plaintiffs property; and
- 4) Defendant intentionally and unreasonably committed an act, or acts, while knowing or having reason to know, that he did not have Plaintiff's permission or a privilege to be on Plaintiffs property.

 $[\ldots]$ 

CP 87. The defense objected to this instruction as an inaccurate statement of the law in Washington. CP 65-67.

# 2. Trial court jury instruction #39 (privilege to trespass)

Instruction #39 provided the bounty hunters with a privilege to enter private land if the bounty hunter has any reasonable belief that a fugitive bondee is on the land:

The following privilege carries with it the privilege to enter land in possession of another for the purpose of exercising the particular privilege, if the person sought is on the land or the actor reasonably believes him to be there: the privilege to take into custody a person for whose appearance in court security has been given by the actor.

CP 111. The defense objected to this instruction as an inaccurate statement of the law in Washington. CP 65-67.

# 3. Trial court jury instruction #41 (privilege to use force to enter home)

Instruction #41 provided the bounty hunters with a privilege to use force to get inside of a private residence if he reasonably believed the fugitive bondee to be inside:

The privilege to enter land carry with it the privilege to use force to enter a dwelling if the person sought to be taken into custody is in the dwelling. Such force may be used only after explanation and demand for admittance, unless the actor reasonably believes such demand to be impractical or useless.

Although the person sought is not in the dwelling, the actor is privileged to use force if he reasonably believes him to be there, and enters in the exercise of a privilege to take into custody a person for whose appearance in court security has been given by the actor.

CP 113. The defense objected to this instruction as an inaccurate statement of the law in Washington. CP 65-67.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

Legal errors in jury instructions are reviewed de novo.

Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851,
860, 281 P. 3d 289 (2012). An erroneous instruction is reversible
error only if it is prejudicial to a party. Id. Sufficient jury instructions
allow the parties to argue their theories of the case, are not
misleading, and, when read as a whole, properly inform the jury of
the applicable law. Keller v. City of Spokane, 146 Wn.2d 237, 249,
44 P.3d 845 (2002). If the instruction contains a clear misstatement
of law, prejudice is presumed and is grounds for reversal unless it
can be shown that the error was harmless. Id. at 249-50; Ezell v.
Hutson, 105 Wn. App. 485, 492, 20 P.3d 975 (2001).

B. Washington Law Does Not Support the Use of Privilege Instructions Authorizing Bounty Hunters to Enter Private Property and Use Force to Gain Entry to a Third Party Dwelling

A bondsman's authority to apprehend and surrender a bondee derives from three sources: (1) the Federal common law principles enunciated by the Supreme Court in *Taylor*, *Taylor v. Taintor*, 83

U.S. (16 Wall.) 366, 371. 21 L.Ed. 287 (1873); (2) statutory authorization; and (3) the contract between the surety and the principal. None of the sources from which a bounty hunter derives his authority provides him with a privilege to enter the private dwelling of a third party.

1. United States Supreme Court Case *Taylor v. Taintor* recognizes the broad powers of a bail bondsman through his contract with the bondee, but provides no privilege to enter third party residences

The *Taylor* court defined a bondsman's common law arrest rights as follows:

"When bail is given, the principal is regarded as delivered to the custody of his sureties. Their dominion is a continuance of the original imprisonment. Whenever they choose to do so, they may seize him and deliver him up in their discharge; and if that cannot be done at once, they may imprison him until it can be done. They may exercise their rights in person or by agent. They may pursue him into another State; may arrest him on the Sabbath; and, if necessary, may break and enter his house for that purpose. The seizure is not made by virtue of new process. None is needed. It is likened to the rearrest, by the sheriff, of an escaping prisoner \* \* \*. It is said: "the bail have their principal on a string, and may pull the string whenever they please, and render him in their discharge."

Taylor, 83 U.S. at 371-72 (emphasis added).

In several states, courts have had to clarify the bounty hunter's authority under *Taylor*. Those courts have consistently been "unwilling to accept the authority of bondsmen to recapture their principals in situations where bondsmen enter third-party homes to recapture a fugitive." Todd Barsumian, Bailbondsman and Bounty Hunters: reexamining the right to capture, 47 Drakelr 877, 891 (1999); State v. Portnoy (1986), 43 Wn.App. 455, 718 P.2d 805 (upheld bail agent's conviction and rejected claim that bondsman may sweep from his path all third parties who he believes are blocking his search for his client, without criminal liability); Mishler v. State, 660 N.E.2d 343, 345-46 (Ind. Ct. App. 1996) (holding no authority gives a bondsman the right to forcibly enter the dwelling of a third person without that person's consent); State v. Tapia, 468 N.W.2d 342, 344 (Minn. Ct. App. 1991) (holding the contractual authority of a bondsman does not give them the authority to infringe upon the rights of third parties); State v. Lopez, 734 P.2d 778, 784 (N.M. Ct. App. 1986) (holding the statutory right of a bondsman to recapture a principal does not give the bondsman a right to an armed entry of a third party's home); State v. Mathis, 349 N.C. 503, 509 S.E.2d 155 N.C. (Dec 31, 1998) (the surety must first have the

consent of the homeowner to enter the premises and conduct a search).

In *Mishler*, the Indiana court addresses the issue of whether two bondsmen had legal authority under *Taylor* to force their way into a bondee's mother's home without her consent. *Mishler*, 660 N.E.2d at 345-46. The facts in *Mishler* are similar to the facts at hand;

bondsmen, who had been unable to find their principal, at his home address, proceeded to [his] mother's home, whose address also appeared on the bond application. . . They were unable to locate [him], and after talking with several people about [his] whereabouts they went to his mother's house. When [his] mother came to the door, recovery agents questioned her about her son's whereabouts; unsatisfied with her answers, recovery agents kicked the door open; entered the apartment knocking her to the ground; and threatened her with his fist. Both bondsmen were then charged and convicted of battery and trespass.

Barsumian, 47 Drakelr at 891. On appeal of the recovery agent's criminal convictions, the *Mishler* court examined common-law authority of bondsmen, noting that the rule in *Taylor* was silent on the right of the bondsmen to forcibly enter a third party's home to recapture their principals. *Id.* The court examined the early case of *Turner v. Wilson,* 49. Ind. 581, 586 (1875), which contained the broad statement that a "bail [bondsman] may, by virtue of his piece

[bond undertaking], take him [the principal] in any house or place . . . at any time, and, upon demand, may break open doors." *Id.* The court analyzed that "[Turner] did not involve a bail bondsman's forcible entry into the dwelling of a third person." *Id.* "*Turner* concerned a sheriff's arrest of the principal on the authority of a recognizance bond obtained from the surety." *Mishler*, 660 N.E.2d. at 345. The *Mishler* court also cited an Indiana statute empowering a bondsman to arrest his principal and the state's citizen arrest statute, and concluded that nowhere is a bondsman authorized to forcibly enter a third party's dwelling to arrest the principal. *Id.* at 345-46 ("We are mindful that [. . .] 'the citizen's arrest statute' permits a person to arrest another individual under certain circumstances, it does not authorize a bondsman to forcibly enter the private dwelling of a third party to arrest the principal"); Ind.Code 35-33-1-4.

2. Washington State leaves the rights and privileges given to bounty hunters to be defined by the contractual provisions of the bond agreement

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