I. INTRODUCTION 

This case stems from a routine apprehension of a criminal 

fugitive that went awry when the Appellant, Ronald Applegate, 

attacked the state licensed fugitive recovery agents. 

On October 17, 2011, the state licensed fugitive recovery 

agents retained by the bail bond company, Lucky Bail Bonds, Inc., 

followed an informant's tip that the fugitive was staying in a trailer at 

her parents' property in Whatcom County, Washington. Her mother 

was the indemnitor on the bail bond. 

Upon arrival, the Agents entered the property to look for the 

fugitive in trailers parked on the property. The Agents were met by a 

belligerent and hostile man, Ronald Applegate, later discovered to be 

the fugitive's father. 

Agent Wirts attempted to inform the man ofthe purpose of 

their presence and calm him down. Mr. Applegate, from atop a porch, 

kicked Agent Wi1is and then reached into his pocket as if to go for a 

weapon. To defend himself, after being knocked back, Agent Wirts 
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attempted to take a hold of Mr. Applegate and stop him from going for 

a weapon. Agent Luna assisted in controlling Mr. Applegate. 

The physical altercation resulted in the Agents and Applegate 

falling through the threshold of the home. During the physical 

altercation, fugitive Elizabeth Applegate was discovered and 

apprehended. Mr. Applegate was released and the Agents left 

immediately upon her apprehension. 

At trial, Mr. Applegate claimed harm from the Agents' actions 

and requested damages on several theories of tort liability. A jury 

found against Mr. Applegate on all claims. Now, Mr. Applegate 

claims that the trial court improperly instructed the jury regarding 

fugitive recovery agents rights to enter property. 
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II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

Assignment of Error 1: The Trial Court's Instruction No. 39 

properly advised the jury of the law in Washington, that the 

privilege to take into custody a person for whose appearance in 

court security has been given by the actor carries with it the 

privilege to enter land in possession of a third party to exercise the 

privilege to take into custody if the person sought is on the land or 

the actor reasonably believe him to be there. 

Assignment of Error 2: The Trial Court's Instruction No. 41 

properly advised the jury of the law in Washington, that the 

privilege to take into custody a person for whose appearance in 

court security has been given by the actor carries with it the 

privilege to use reasonable force to enter a dwelling if the person 

sought is in the dwelling or the actor reasonably believes him to be 

there. 

Assigm11ent of Error 3: The Trial Court's Instruction No. 17 

properly advised the jury of the law in Washington, that a person 

can not trespass land when there exists a privilege to be there. 
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III. STATEMENT OF CASE 

A. Lucky Bail Bonds, Inc. and Applegate Bond. 

In August, 2011, Lucky Bail Bonds, Inc. posted two bail bonds 

on behalf of Elizabeth Applegate, securing her release on a matter 

from Ferndale Municipal Court and a matter in Whatcom County 

District Court. The aggregate of the bonds valued $4,000. RP Vol. 2 

25:11-26:2. Lucky Bail Bonds, Inc.'s premium (fee) for the bonds 

was $400. RP Vol. 2 135:5-13. 

Ms. Dorothy Applegate, Elizabeth's mother, filled out an 

Indemnitor's Application, agreeing to be financially responsible for 

the bonds. RPVol. 2130:17-131:11,143:9-14. Depmimentof 

Licensing also advised the public that indemnitors' homes and 

property may be searched by bail enforcement agents if a defendant 

fails to appear in court. RP Vol. 3 344:6-14. On Dorothy Applegate's 

Indemnitor Application, she listed her then-current address as 24 77 

Loomis Trail Road, Custer, Washington, and Ronald Applegate as her 

husband. RP Vol. 2 14:20-15:19. 

On September 19, 2011, Lucky Bail Bonds, Inc. was notified 

by Whatcom County District Court that Elizabeth Applegate failed to 
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appear from a mandatory court appearance on September 15, 2011. 

RP Vol. 2 138:2-23. 

On September 29, 2011, Lucky Bail Bonds, Inc. was notified 

by Ferndale Municipal Court that Elizabeth Applegate failed to appear 

at pretrial conference scheduled for September 23, 2011. RP Vol. 2 

138:24-139:1. 

In the event a defendant fails to appear at a mandatory court 

appearance, the bail bond may be forfeited by Order of th~ Court. In 

the event a bond of forfeited, the bonding company has a limited 

period of time, usually sixty (60) days, to return the fugitive to the 

custody of the Court before the bonding company must pay the value 

ofthe bond. RP Vol. 2 136:14-21. 

After receiving notice of Elizabeth Applegate's failure to 

appear in both court matters, Eric Arps, owner and president of Lucky 

Bail Bonds, Inc., contacted the indemnitor of the bonds, Dorothy 

Applegate. Mr. Arps explained to Mrs. Applegate her financial 

obligations for the bonds and sought information and assistance from 

her to located Elizabeth Applegate. RP Vol. 2 135:21-137:21. 

After failed attempts to locate Elizabeth Applegate, Mr. Arps 

decided to retain fugitive recovery agents to locate and apprehend 
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Elizabeth Applegate and return her to the custody of the courts before 

payment on the bonds were due. RP Vol. 2 139:5-140:3. 

On October 11, 2011, Lucky Bail Bonds entered into a Bail 

Bond Recovery Contract for the apprehension and sunender of 

Elizabeth Applegate with three licensed fugitive recovery agents, 

Cesar Luna, John Wirts, and Greg Peterson. RP Vol. 2 14:3-19. Each 

of these agents were independent contractors, and not employees of 

Lucky Bail Bonds, Inc. RP Vol. 2 109:25-110:3, 134:10-13. 

B. October 17, 2011. 

During the evening on October 17, 2011, Agent Luna received 

information from a confidential informant that Elizabeth Applegate 

was staying in a trailer located at 2477 Loomis Trail Road, Custer, 

Washington. RP Vol. 3, 347:19-20, 372:5-373:3, 385:23-386:4. Agent 

Luna contacted Agent Wirts and Agent Peterson to meet at an 

intersection near 24 77 Loomis Trail Road in order to investigate and 

potentially apprehend Ms. Applegate. RP Vol. 3 373:3-18. 

Upon arrival at approximately 10:30 p.m., the Agents, arriving 

separately, parked their cars several houses west of the intersection, 
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and met to discuss plans on approaching the property.' RP Vol. 1 9:4-

11:10; Vol. 2 9:24-10:18; Vol. 3 373:6-74:5. They observed several 

trailers located one side of the property, with a driveway separating the 

house from the trailers. It was decided that the Agents would first 

approach the trailer in the back of the property and knock on the trailer 

door to determine if Elizabeth Applegate was inside. The Agents 

would then work towards the trailer at the front of the propetiy. If she 

was not located in any of the trailers, the Agents would approach the 

house and knock on the front door. RP Vol. 3 373:6-375:24. 

The Agents were wearing shirts or sweatshirts with the words 

"BAIL ENFORCEMENT," "AGENT BAIL ENFORCEMENT," or 

written in large brightly colored letters across the front and the back of 

the vest. They also had fugitive recovery agent badges displayed in 

front in plain sight. RP Vol. 1 42:3-44:7; Vol. 2 19:23-21:11,27:5-

28:5, 49:20-50:2; Vol. 3 374:6-19. 

Agents Luna, Peterson, and Wirts entered the Applegate 

property in single file, in that order, and walked between the house on 

1 Agent Wirts' adult son, Riley Wirts, arrived with Agent Wirts, as the two had been 
having a late dinner together when Agent Luna called regarding the informant's tip. 
Riley was instructed to stay back away from the property. He followed those 
instructions except for one moment when he stepped just onto the Applegate 
propetiy just after his father was attacked by Ron Applegate, to ask Agent Peterson if 
everything was ok, after which Riley immediately retreated from the prope1ty. RP 
Vol. 3 358:1-364:15. 
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the property and a van parked next to the trailers. Agents Luna and 

Peterson walked past the front porch on the house, with Mr. Applegate 

on the porch. RP Vol. 2 89:16-91:25. 

Mr. Applegate immediately engaged verbally and aggressively 

with the Agents. RP Vol. 3 282:21-23,363:6-17, 374:23-76:16. 

Agent Wirts approached the house to attempt to calm Mr. 

Applegate down and to inform him of the Agents' purpose and 

intentionsattheproperty. RPVol.117:1-6, 19:4-14,40:17-42:2. As 

Agent Wirts approached the steps of the porch, he identified himself as 

"John" and clearly stated that he was a bail enforcement agent looking 

for Liz Applegate. RP Vol. 1 41:24-42:2. 

Mr. Applegate yelled at Agent Wilis, swearing at him and 

demanding that the Agents leave the property. Agent Wirts tried to 

explain that they were fugitive recovery agents looking to apprehend 

Liz Applegate. In the exchange with Agent Wirts, Mr. Applegate lied 

to Agent Wirts, stating that he did not know Liz Applegate and 

continued his verbal assault, unrelenting verbal profanities and orders 

to get off the property, failing to actually hear and understand the 

situation. RP Vol. 2 110:8-16; Vol. 3 206:8-208:1,286:6-287:8. 
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Mr. Applegate then told Agent Wirts that Elizabeth was living 

in a blueberry field. RP Vol. 3 208:6-22. 

In trying to calm Mr. Applegate down and get accurate 

information about Elizabeth Applegate, Agent Wirts approached the 

first step of the porch. RP Vol. 117:1-6, 19:4-14,40:15-41:4. As 

Agent Wirts stood at the bottom of the porch, Mr. Applegate kicked 

Agent Wirts in his left shoulder, causing him to momentarily lose 

balance backwards. RP Vol. 119:19-24; Vol. 2 114:6-11, 118:4-18; 

Vol. 3 282, 360:16-362:6. As Agent Wirts caught his balance, Mr. 

Applegate reached into his right pocket as if reaching for a weapon. 

RP Vol. 1 24:1-11,38:25-39:21. 

Concerned that Mr. Applegate was reaching for a weapon and 

that Mr. Applegate may assault him again, Agent Wirts decided to step 

on the porch and obtain control of Mr. Applegate. RP Vol. 1 24:7-15, 

38:25-39:21. The porch was covered with what appeared to be 

pumpkin innards and was extremely slippery. RP Vol. 1 26:14-19. 

As Agent Wirts reached the top of the porch, he grabbed at Mr. 

Applegate for his safety. Upon contact with Mr. Applegate, they 

began sliding around on the debris on the front porch. RP Vol. 1 

24:12-19,26:14-19. 
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As Agent Wilts grabbed for Mr. Applegate, Agent Luna 

arrived to the porch to assist him in getting Mr. Applegate under 

control. RP Vol. 3 376:14-25. At no point did the Agents punch, 

kick, or knee Mr. Applegate. Rather, they merely attempted to restrain 

him. RP Vol. 3 362:13-63:1. 

Prior to Applegate's attack, Agent Luna had reached the rear of 

the property and began to knock on the trailers, searching for Elizabeth 

Applegate. During the approximate two to three minutes it took for 

Agent Luna to investigate the trailers, he heard Mr. Applegate yelling 

profanities at Agent Wirts. RP Vol. 3 374:22-376:12. 

After he knocked on the doors of the trailers, Agent Luna 

started towards the house where the yelling was coming from. He saw 

that Agent Wirts and Mr. Applegate were in a struggle. Agent Luna 

ran up to the porch and began helping Agent Wilts gain control of Mr. 

Applegate. RP Vol. 3 376:2-19. 

Prior to Applegate's attack, Agent Peterson walked towards the 

trailers with Agent Luna, hearing Mr. Applegate's yelling increase. 

Mr. Applegate was being very hostile. Agent Peterson looked toward 

the porch of the house and observed Mr. Applegate kick Agent Wirts. 

RP Vol. 2 113:15-114:7, 118:4-18. 

10 



Mr. Applegate continued to verbally assault and threaten the 

agents while he physically struggled with Agents Wirts and Luna. The 

Agents believed that Mr. Applegate continued to present a threat to 

them, as Mr. Applegate refused to calm down and act rationally. In 

addition, the Agents were concerned that Mr. Applegate was 

attempting to get inside the house to grab a weapon. RP Vol. 3 3 77:1-

378:2. As the Agents were attempting to gain control of Mr. 

Applegate, the front door the residence opened up with a 1nan standing 

there, later identified as Elizabeth Applegate's boyfriend, Garrett. RP 

Vol. 2 102:15-21; Vol. 3 378:3-12. 

After the door was opened, Mr. Applegate, Agent Cesar, and 

Agent Wirts fell into through the threshold of the house. RP Vol. 2 

102:15-21. Mr. Applegate tried to get free and run into the house. As 

he did, he lost his balance, which allowed Agent Luna to get better 

control ofhimjust inside the doorway. RP Vol. 3 378:6-12,392:1-19. 

Agent Luna then had Mr. Applegate's right arm behind his back and 

Agent Luna's arm was across Mr. Applegate's chest, to not obstruct 

his breathing. Mr. Applegate was on a bended knee, and continued to 

yell profanities at the Agents. RP Vol. 3 379:5-381:4. 
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During the time that Agent Wirts and Luna were attempting to 

get control of Mr. Applegate, Agent Peterson called law enforcement. 

RP Vol. 2 99:14-103:3. 

Upon reaching the threshold, Agent Wirts was able to see in 

the house and observed Elizabeth Applegate standing behind Garrett. 

RP Vol. 1 32:5-22; Vol. 2 7:18-23. Elizabeth Applegate retreated to 

the back ofthe house, out of sight. RP Vol. 1 32:5-22; Vol. 2 7:18-23. 

Garrett brought Elizabeth Applegate back to the front of t~e house, 

where she was taken into custody by Agent Wilis. RP Vol. 3 380:10-

15. After Agent Wirts' escorted Elizabeth out of the house, Agent 

Luna let Mr. Applegate go and backed out ofthe house. RP Vol. 3 

380:15-18. 

After Elizabeth was taken to the agents' car, Garrett was shown 

the fugitive recovery contract as requested and brought Elizabeth some 

clothes. RP Vol. 2 70:3-71:12. Garrett confirmed that he and 

Elizabeth Applegate were staying in the trailers on her parents' 

propetiy that night. RP Vol. 2 73:14-74:5. 

During the entire interaction with the Agents, Mr. Applegate 

was aware that his daughter was inside his residence. Further, he was 

aware that she had warrants out for her arrest. RP Vol. 3 291:3-9. 
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Nonetheless, he chose to lie to the Agents about her whereabouts and 

attack Agent Wirts. While the Agents were speaking to Sheriff's 

Deputies, Mr. Applegate got into his truck and drove away, avoiding 

the Sheriff's Deputies. RP Vol. 2 9:1-23. 

C. Petitioner's Lawsuit and Trial. 

Ronald Applegate filed a lawsuit against Lucky Bail Bonds, 

Inc., the three fugitive recovery agents, John Wilts, Mr. Wirts' 

company Quest Recovery, Greg Peterson, Cesar Luna, and Mr. Wirts' 

son, Riley Wirts. At trial, seven (7) causes of action were asserted 

against the Defendants by Mr. Applegate, including trespass, assault, 

battery, false imprisonment, negligence, intentional infliction of 

emotional distress, and the tort of outrage. CP 68-121. 

After reviewing the evidence and the Court's instructions on 

the law, the jury found in favor of all defendants on all claims. CP 

124-125. Currently, Appellant takes issue with three of the Court's 

instructions: Instruction No. 17, Instruction No. 39, and Instruction 

No. 41. CP 87, 111, 113, respectively. 

Instruction No. 17 states, in portion relative to Appellant's 

objection: 

Plaintiff claims that Defendants John 
Wirts, Cesar Luna, Greg Peterson, and Riley 
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Wirts each trespassed on his property. To 
establish this claim, with regard to each 
defendant, Plaintiff must prove the following: 

3. That Plaintiff did not give the 
Defendant permission to enter Plaintiff's 
Property and Defendant did not have a 
privilege to be on,Plaintiff's property; ... 

Instruction No. 39 states: 

The following privilege carries with it 
the privilege to enter land in the possession of 
another for the purpose of exercising the 
particular privilege, if the person sought is on 
the land or the actor reasonably believes h1m 
to be there: 

The privilege to take into custody a 
person for whose appearance in court security 
has been given the actor. 

Instruction No. 41 states: 

The privilege to enter land carry with 
it the privilege to use force to enter a 
dwelling if the person sought to be taken 
into custody is in the dwelling. Such force 
may be used only after explanation and 
demand for admittance, unless the actor 
reasonably believes such demand to be 
impractical or useless. 

Although the person sought is not in 
the dwelling, the actor is privileged to use 
force if he reasonably believes him to be 
there, and enters in the exercise of a 
privilege to take into custody a person for 
whose appearance in court security has been 
given by the actor. 

The basis of each of the instructions, and the basis of the 
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objections to the instructions, is the premise that if a pmiy that has a 

privilege to take a person into custody, there is also a privilege to enter 

land or dwelling of a third party where the person is or is reasonably 

believed to be. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review. 

Jury instructions are reviewed de novo for errors of law. 

Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851,860, 

281 P.3d 289,294 (2012); citing Joyce v. Dep'tofCorr., 155 Wn.2d

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